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● (1105)

[English]

The Chair (Salma Zahid (Scarborough Centre—Don Valley
East, Lib.)): I call the meeting to order.

Welcome to meeting number 28 of the Standing Committee on
Science and Research. The meeting is to study the governance and
accountability of federal science policy and institutions.

Before we start, I would like to adopt some study budgets. The
clerk sent you four supplementary draft budgets on Monday, March
2. The clerk also sent you a draft budget in the amount of $38,800
for our next study on implications of the Canada-China preliminary
joint arrangement on Canada's electric vehicle sector.

Is everyone okay in regard to the budgets? One of the other four
budgets is a request for a supplementary budget of an extra $1,000
for the antimicrobial resistance study. The second one is for an ex‐
tra $1,000 for the artificial intelligence study. The third one is for
the study of the impact of the criteria for awarding federal funding
on research excellence in Canada. The supplementary amount re‐
quested is $2,500. The next one is for the study on the implications
of the Canada-China preliminary joint arrangement on Canada's
electric vehicle sector, which is for $38,800. The last one is for the
study on the private sector investment in research and development
in Canada, and the supplementary amount requested is $1,000.

Is everyone in agreement?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: The budgets are adopted.

I would like to make a few comments for the benefit of the wit‐
nesses and the members. Please wait until I recognize you by name
before speaking. For those participating by video conference, click
on the microphone icon to activate your mic, and please mute your‐
self when you are not speaking. For those on Zoom, at the bottom
of your screen, you can select the appropriate channel for interpre‐
tation: floor, English or French. All comments should be addressed
through the chair.

I would like to welcome our witnesses for this panel, but I think
MP Blanchette-Joncas would like to say something before we pro‐
ceed to our witnesses.

Thank you.

[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas (Rimouski—La Matapédia, BQ):
Madam Chair, I seek the unanimous consent of my colleagues to
move a motion.

When the committee adopted the order for the production of doc‐
uments on October 1 and amended it on October 20, the objective
was clear: Enable a rigorous analysis of how our research funding
system works. The intention was never to call into question the
granting agencies or the essential work they do to support research.
Rather, the goal was to enable researchers, in an appropriate and se‐
cure framework, to have access to the microdata they needed to an‐
alyze the determinants of research success and better understand
how the scientific funding system actually works. That approach al‐
so addressed the concerns expressed by a number of researchers
who wanted to be able to more rigorously analyze the distribution
of scientific funding and the factors that influence the allocation of
public research funds.

In any knowledge-based society, the institutions that support sci‐
ence have to be open to scrutiny, analysis and understanding. Sci‐
ence itself advances through rigour, critical examination and trans‐
parency. A number of researchers have also emphasized that the
analysis of scientific funding requires access to all applications, in‐
cluding funded and unfunded projects, to avoid bias and better un‐
derstand the distribution of funding. Granting agencies have also
pointed out the significant constraints they have to comply with, in‐
cluding in terms of privacy, confidentiality, peer reviews and data
security. On top of that, the Translation Bureau has raised consider‐
able constraints regarding the exceptional volume of documents in‐
volved.

The motion I am moving today seeks to take those real adminis‐
trative constraints into account. That said, the issue that prompted
this action is still important. Understanding how public research
funds are distributed and enabling their analysis remain critical to
ensuring that our science system is transparent and is trusted by
Canadians. It is also in this spirit that the committee is now under‐
taking a broader reflection on the governance and accountability of
federal scientific institutions. A strong system depends not only on
the quality of the research it supports, but also on the transparency
of institutions and their ability to be understood, analyzed and con‐
tinually improved.

Madam Chair, I will read the text of the motion:
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That, in light of the translation-related issues as conveyed by the Translation Bu‐
reau, the committee rescind the order for the production of documents adopted
on October 1, 2025, and amended on October 20, 2025, and sent to the Social
Sciences and Humanities Research Council, the Natural Sciences and Engineer‐
ing Research Council of Canada, and the Canadian Institutes of Health Re‐
search, as part of the study on the impact of federal funding allocation criteria on
research excellence in Canada.

● (1110)

[English]
The Chair: MP Blanchette-Joncas has moved a motion. The

clerk has emailed everyone. I hope everyone has seen it.

(Motion agreed to)

The Chair: Thank you, MP Blanchette-Joncas.

We will proceed to our witnesses for our first panel. I apologize
for that.

I would really like to welcome the Canadian Institutes of Health
Research, represented by Dr. Paul Hébert, president, and Jeff
Moore, vice-president of corporate services and transformation. We
are also joined by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research
Council of Canada, which is represented today by its president,
Alejandro Adem, and Marcel Turcot, vice-president of strategic,
corporate and public affairs. Our third organization for this panel is
the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council, represented
by Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux, chief operating officer and vice-president
of research, and Dr. Valérie Laflamme, associate vice-president of
the tri-agency institutional programs secretariat.

All of the witnesses will have five minutes for their opening re‐
marks, and then we will go to our rounds of questioning.

We will begin with Dr. Paul Hébert.

Please go ahead.
[Translation]

Dr. Paul Hébert (President, Canadian Institutes of Health
Research): Madam Chair, members, thank you for the invitation to
be here today.

I’m pleased to support this discussion on governance and ac‐
countability in federal science policy and institutions.

As president of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research, or
CIHR, I lead an organization whose work is foundational to im‐
proving the health and prosperity of Canadians.

My team and I recognize the profound responsibility entrusted in
us as stewards of public investment in health and life sciences re‐
search. This responsibility is anchored in our foundation—the
Canadian Institues of Health Research Act, given royal assent in
2000—which remains a powerful piece of legislation.

CIHR’s purpose is simple: to create, apply, and mobilize knowl‐
edge that aims to improve the health and well-being of humanity,
and the prosperity of all Canadians. It enshrines the principles of
excellence, transparency and accountability that guide us to this
day. For us, this means harnessing the full potential of Canada’s
world class scientific community through engagement and collabo‐
ration, while aligning with our investments and programs.

[English]

At this point in human history, we are in the midst of a biological
revolution fuelled by artificial intelligence, advanced biotechnology
and data. This convergence of forces is accelerating our ability to
understand life, cure disease and care for our patients. There is no
doubt that this convergence is already having profound effects on
how we conduct our science and care for our patients. For Canada,
this represents a profound opportunity.

Over the past year, CIHR has undertaken a significant reorgani‐
zation to strengthen our ability to deliver our scientific mission and
achieve greater impact for Canadians. We will not measure our suc‐
cess by publications or accolades alone, but by whether Canadians
are living longer, healthier lives and whether every person can
count on the right care at the right time. We will also measure our
success by the number of new drugs and treatments we discover
and deliver to the world.

Realizing this promise, however, will require collaboration
among the tri-councils, CFI, federal departments and agencies,
and—for us—provinces and territories, because of the nature of our
federated system. My hope is that, through all this, we become a
more productive, innovative and healthier nation. For us, this
means strengthening clinical research, leveraging our wealth of da‐
ta and creating pathways to translate discoveries into solutions here
at home.

As a national funder, CIHR plays a key role in convening part‐
ners and bridging disciplines to shape this shared vision. Collabora‐
tion is core to our collective work, and accountability to Canadians
is our North Star. These values extend to the partnerships among
our three agencies—NSERC, which you will hear from shortly,
SSHRC and CIHR—as well as our CFI partner. Through the
Canada research coordinating committee, which I chaired this past
year, we have made great strides in harmonizing our policies and
programs. That was before me, but since I've taken on this respon‐
sibility, we've strengthened aspects of delivering on missions.
We've really focused on this in the past year, through our collabora‐
tive efforts. These include things like AI in health and life sciences.
We are actively exploring Dr. Adem's and our colleagues' missions
related to defence. Those are just two examples.

Of course, underpinning all this work is the independent peer re‐
view system we put in place. Canadian science is defined by cre‐
ativity, boldness, rigour, curiosity and intellectual humility. Fair and
effective peer review is how we fund this exceptional science and
achieve these results.
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● (1115)

Another legacy of the CIHR Act is our balanced and rigorous
governance model. CIHR's governing council, our 13 institutes and
their advisory bodies support informed scientific excellence and
leadership with strong internal controls, audits and performance
measurements. As you know, CIHR reports to Parliament through
the Minister of Health every year.

Our arm's-length status preserves scientific independence, while
still ensuring some accountability for Canadians, and—I would ar‐
gue—meets some of the major missions of the government of the
day. We also know that meaningful collaboration impact require a
shared foundation of evidence. High-quality data, as mentioned by
one of the vice-chairs here today—

The Chair: I'm sorry for interrupting. Can you quickly wind up,
please?

Dr. Paul Hébert: Okay.

High-quality data strengthens oversight and builds trust in sci‐
ence institutions. For this reason, CIHR publishes extensive fund‐
ing information online, including through Open Government, in ad‐
dition to programs, evaluations, peer review membership and other
data. We also support external data requests for “research on re‐
search” evidence. In fact, we've entertained 500 of those in the last
several years.

[Translation]

As a learning organization, CIHR takes pride in the fact that our
collaborative approach to data has directly led to funding program
improvements. This ensures that we can contribute to outstanding,
independent analyses while upholding our legislated obligations to
privacy.

In closing, Canada has an opportunity to meet this moment and
position its life sciences sector for global leadership. Canadians are
counting on us to deliver, and CIHR is ready—guided firmly by the
principles of transparency, accountability, and evidence-based deci‐
sion making.

As a trusted partner and leader, CIHR—

[English]
The Chair: I'm sorry for interrupting. Thank you.

We will now proceed to Mr. Adem, representing the Natural Sci‐
ences and Engineering Research Council. He is joining us through
video conferencing.

Please, Mr. Adem, go ahead. You have five minutes for your
opening remarks.

Dr. Alejandro Adem (President, Natural Sciences and Engi‐
neering Research Council): Good morning, Madam Chair and
members of the committee.

As the president of NSERC, I am pleased to discuss NSERC's
governance, accountability and data management practices. I'm
joined here by Marcel Turcot, NSERC's vice-president for strategic,
corporate and public affairs.

[Translation]

The Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of
Canada, or NSERC, invests over $1.4 billion each year to support
natural sciences and engineering research at more than 170 institu‐
tions across Canada. Our investments are supporting broad-based,
internationally recognized discovery-oriented research. Since 2015,
three NSERC-supported researchers based in Canada have won the
Nobel Prize in physics.

We also enable invaluable research training to over 32,000 stu‐
dents and trainees each year, and at least 84% of NSERC-funded
doctoral and postdoctoral award holders find employment in re‐
search or research- and development-focused organizations.

We also support industry partnerships with universities and col‐
leges, powering engagement with over 2,800 nonacademic partners.

● (1120)

[English]

Our investments in research deliver impact locally, nationally
and globally, while driving progress in priority areas aligned with
economic objectives. Our track record over the past 10 years in‐
cludes over $1.1 billion to support artificial intelligence research,
over $650 million for northern research and over $500 million to
support quantum research.

These research dollars have had real impact. For example,
NSERC's AI investments backed the early work of pioneers like
Geoffrey Hinton, who won a Nobel Prize in 2024, and Yoshua Ben‐
gio, who shared the famous Turing Award with Dr. Hinton and
Yann LeCun in 2018.

[Translation]

NSERC also supported the work of Gilles Brassard, who made
contributions that are recognized as fundamental to transformative
quantum technologies.

NSERC and the other federal granting agencies work in a highly
coordinated fashion to help the Canadian research ecosystem main‐
tain and grow its impact.

Through active leadership in international science organizations,
NSERC also helps shape global standards. Our world-class gover‐
nance model is provided to us by the Natural Sciences and Engi‐
neering Research Council Act, which grants advisory functions and
oversight to our council, composed of NSERC’s president and up to
18 members from academia and the private and not for profit sec‐
tors.

The council is also advised on specific policies and programs by
three standing committees.
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[English]

As a federal agency, we are subject to parliamentary oversight
through the Minister of Industry and to legislation that outlines our
accountability, such as the Financial Administration Act. Our pro‐
grams and operations also adhere to Treasury Board oversight poli‐
cies and directives, which are further strengthened by our indepen‐
dent audit committee and internal audit function.

Finally, our funding is awarded through a competitive peer re‐
view process run by rigorously selected and independent scientific
experts.
[Translation]

This rigorous accountability also extends to our data manage‐
ment practices and modernization projects. As a federal institution,
we have ethical responsibilities and legal obligations when it comes
to legally protected information. We also follow and fully endorse
the principles of transparent government, accessible data, and open
research.
[English]

That is why we proactively disclose significant amounts of fund‐
ing data, which is available to all Canadians on an annual basis.
They include our departmental results reporting, the names of ex‐
perts on our review committees and almost two million disaggre‐
gated data points on awards, which are published every year.

They also include results pages and dashboards that provide ag‐
gregated data and analysis on success rates for key programs, bro‐
ken down by variables such as institution size, language of applica‐
tion, career stage and status or identity. Even the OECD has noted
that Canada has one of the highest levels of research funding data
openness and traceability.

Our upcoming tri-agency grants management solution will im‐
prove data harmonization across the agencies and make even more
data available for analysis by consolidating multiple systems. This
system will be phased in progressively, with full implementation
expected in 2028.
[Translation]

Thank you for the opportunity to speak to you today. I welcome
any questions you might have and look forward to providing any
clarifications you require.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you, Mr. Adem.

We will proceed to Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux, chief operating officer
and vice-president of research for the Social Sciences and Humani‐
ties Research Council.

Please go ahead. You have five minutes for your opening re‐
marks.
[Translation]

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux (Chief Operating Officer and Vice-
President, Research, Social Sciences and Humanities Research
Council): Thank you, Madam Chair, for inviting me to speak today
on behalf of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council,
or SSHRC.

I am pleased to be joined by my colleague Valérie Laflamme,
SSHRC’s associate vice-president, Tri-agency Institutional Pro‐
grams Secretariat, or TIPS.

We welcome the committee’s attention to the topics of gover‐
nance, accountability and transparency. These essential elements of
good public service—and also of good research—are core features
of both the work we do and the way we are structured and gov‐
erned.

SSHRC is governed by a volunteer council, whose members are
appointed through the Governor in Council appointments process.
Our council operates according to a set of published bylaws, and
we are subject to a range of legislative and policy requirements and
directives.

● (1125)

[English]

SSHRC's strategic priorities, activities and performance are regu‐
larly assessed through formal reporting requirements and program
evaluations and audits, including regular reporting to Parliament
through our departmental plan and our departmental results report.
In addition, for programs with higher-value grants, mid-term re‐
views are conducted to assess the progress of granted projects. We
proactively disclose significant data describing our activities and
funding decisions, including through annual public disclosure of
funding results and several publicly available data dashboards.

Our core service to Canada is to support research and research
training in the social sciences and humanities in order to help en‐
sure Canada is equipped with a robust, sovereign research enter‐
prise, providing the skills and expertise to help address today's
challenges, as well as respond to future ones, whether they are an‐
ticipated or not.

Our commitment to accountability and transparency is evident in
how we pursue this mandate. Our funding decisions are based on
recommendations made by experts through a rigorous, independent,
arm's-length merit review process in line with international best
practices. We consult regularly with the research community and
non-academic stakeholders on our processes. Moreover, the poli‐
cies, processes and criteria that orient our funding decisions are all
publicly available. We are held to account on our performance pri‐
marily through our council and through several advisory bodies
representing our research community.

[Translation]

Additionally, SSHRC houses TIPS, which delivers some of
Canada’s most prestigious and avant-garde research programs, in‐
cluding, among others, the New Frontiers in Research Fund, the
Canada Research Chairs Program, and the new Canada Impact+ re‐
search chairs and emerging leaders programs announced in Bud‐
get 2025.
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These programs all benefit from collaborative tri-agency gover‐
nance structures, with the programs overseen by steering and man‐
agement committees that include representatives of the three feder‐
al research funding agencies; the Canada Foundation for Innova‐
tion, or CFI; Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Canada; and Health Canada. More generally, the three funding
agencies and the CFI work very closely together on a range of key
policy issues, from data management to open access.
[English]

As a signatory of the San Francisco Declaration on Research As‐
sessment, DORA, SSHRC strives to stay at the forefront of interna‐
tional best practices in research funding. SSHRC also supports re‐
search on the research process itself, which includes how research
is funded, performed, communicated and evaluated. We are, for ex‐
ample, a member of the international Research on Research Insti‐
tute, which improves how research is funded, evaluated and prac‐
tised.

Finally, it's important to note that SSHRC collaborates across
sectors, including with colleges and universities, the private sector,
NGOs and organizations across governments. These connections
help ensure that activities address the many challenges facing
Canadians.
[Translation]

SSHRC is deeply committed to accountability, transparency and
good governance—and strives for constant improvement. We wel‐
come the committee’s study on this question, and the opportunity to
support this important work.

Thank you, and I look forward to answering any questions.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you.

With that, we will go to our rounds of questioning. The first
round is six minutes each.

We will start with MP Kronis for six minutes.

Please go ahead.
Tamara Kronis (Nanaimo—Ladysmith, CPC): Thank you so

much, Madam Chair.

I'm going to ask my questions of Mr. Hébert.

I come from Vancouver Island, where access to health care is a
real challenge, so I was happy to hear you talk about outcomes be‐
cause that is all that matters to us.

Our tertiary hospital often isn't staffed like one, so many resi‐
dents have to travel significant distances to get specialized care.
Our local university, Vancouver Island University, is a small re‐
gional institution that is working to build research capacity but
doesn't have the scale of the large research universities.

With that context in mind, what I'd like to ask you about is the
demand for CIHR funding and how it's distributed across institu‐
tions. From your most recent grant competitions, can you talk to me
a little bit about your success rates and how that has worked over

time in terms of the applications you get versus grants actually
funded?

● (1130)

Dr. Paul Hébert: Thank you for the question.

Let me start at the end, in a sense. Our success rate overall is
13% or 13.5%. I don't know the precise number. I do, but I just
don't have it here correctly. It's around that range.

Over the years, it has gone up and down. I think the highest was
20%, probably seven to 10 years ago. It's steadily at that rate now
and dropping, largely because of the grant pressure. The number of
grants going out is increasing, but the number of demands is going
way up. I was just talking to my colleagues from several granting
councils in Australia and in the United Kingdom. Because of AI,
we're all seeing this pressure of grants go way up, and we're all go‐
ing to have to find ways to deal with it.

In terms of grant distribution, which was the next part of your
question, if you look at the breakdown writ large, there are geo‐
graphic differences. I'll break them down for you. Essentially, Uni‐
versity of Toronto gets a significant portion of all of our grants.
Then there's the middle core university sector of the U15, and then
there are the smaller institutions. You will see differences in distri‐
bution based on the size of institutions.

In terms of geography around our country, Ontario does well be‐
cause of the University of Toronto. You see that in middle Canada
and Quebec. Depending on the competition, the Atlantic provinces
see less. British Columbia will see that, given where you asked
about, UBC does extremely well and the smaller universities less
so.

Tamara Kronis: What you're saying is that pressure on grants is
increasing. There are thousands of grant proposals that are not sup‐
ported each year, so there are high-quality projects that peer re‐
viewers would consider fundable, including in communities like
mine that are not able to be supported because of limited resources.
Most of the funding is going to large institutions in urban areas.

Given the pressures that we face in our communities to be able to
deliver health care and to be able to attract the talent that will do
that, do you have any recommendations on what we could be doing
to increase the funding to regions like ours?

Dr. Paul Hébert: I would say that's a very long discussion, but
I'd be happy to go through at least some of the high points.

The first thing is that you're absolutely correct that in every com‐
petition, we leave a lot of great science on the table. Instead of a
13% success rate, we should probably be looking at 25%. In every
single competition, there's not enough money to fund great science
and great scientists. It creates unusual issues in grant distributions,
as you're highlighting. There's great science in British
Columbia—$165 million goes to the British Columbia ecosys‐
tem—and the distribution there is a bit odd even.
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In terms of my recommendations, I would say that we need to
get a lot more collaboration going in British Columbia. Knowing
your health authorities and how they work, strengthening the whole
of the ecosystem with collaborative intent would be a great idea.
The pressures the province of British Columbia is undergoing right
now are very large. Every single health authority is being asked to
squeeze. They're squeezing the academic side too. Hiring people is
becoming more and more difficult, and their positions are hard. To
give you an example—

Tamara Kronis: What does that mean for things like the pur‐
chasing power of grants these days? What does it mean for the size
of research teams? How is that impacting results?

Dr. Paul Hébert: You're hitting on some really important points.
In British Columbia, if UBC or Simon Fraser, the two bigger uni‐
versities—
● (1135)

Tamara Kronis: Let's talk about VIU.
Dr. Paul Hébert: What I mean is that what they have to do is

share their platforms. Is there enough collaboration to share the
platforms between all of the ecosystem universities? The answer is,
yeah, so-so. They can improve that.

Are scientists working together? The way around this system is
much more enhanced collaboration. What I often see is what I call
zero-sum competition. The authorities compete with one another
because of the funding pots, rather than work together. I spent three
weeks in British Columbia last year. My daughter lives out in Van‐
couver. I visited UVic and spent a fair bit of time. That's what you
see. Does the island health authority work with—

The Chair: I'm sorry for interrupting. The time is up for MP
Kronis.

We will move to MP Deschênes-Thériault for six minutes.

Please go ahead, sir.
[Translation]

Guillaume Deschênes-Thériault (Madawaska—Restigouche,
Lib.): Thank you, Madam Chair.

Witnesses, today's motion is about the accountability framework
for federal science institutions. In this first round of questions, I'm
going to focus on your obligations under Canada's Official Lan‐
guages Act. As you know, you have to comply with this act as fed‐
eral agencies. Since the act was modernized in 2023, part VII has
focused on the progress toward substantive equality between both
official languages. It also explicitly mentions positive measures that
aim to support the creation and dissemination of information in
French that helps advance scientific knowledge in all disciplines.

Since the modernized Official Languages Act was passed, what
positive measures have each of your granting councils put in place
to meet your enhanced obligations under the Official Languages
Act?

We could start with the Social Sciences and Humanities Research
Council of Canada.

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: Thank you for your question.

SSHRC recognizes the importance of research in French in
Canada and of ensuring equitable access to federal research fund‐
ing. The situation regarding application acceptance rates is interest‐
ing. While there has been a decline in the number of applications
submitted in French over the past few years, the acceptance rates
for applications submitted in French and those submitted in English
are very similar in a number of our funding opportunities.

I would say that, since 2023, there's an effort to dig a little deep‐
er, because the concept of substantive equality is very important. It
may not be enough to look only at analyses in French and English.
It's also important to take into account the realities of where appli‐
cations come from. That makes it possible to better understand
what happens to applications received in French from outside Que‐
bec and their acceptance rate. It's a matter of having a perspective
that takes into account Quebec and places outside Quebec, and un‐
derstanding what happens to applications submitted in the various
regions.

Investments in research on official languages and related topics,
such as bilingualism, multilingualism, language law and policy, and
official language communities total more than $8 million per year.
From 2019 to 2023, those investments totalled $41.4 million. That
also includes five Canada research chairs.

To answer your question specifically, I'd say the most important
thing in all our commitments—whether with French-language, En‐
glish-language or bilingual colleges or universities—is to ensure
that we promote the French-language research support service from
the Association canadienne-française pour l'avancement des sci‐
ences, or Acfas, to ensure that all researchers, no matter where they
are, have the support they need to submit their applications.

Guillaume Deschênes-Thériault: Thank you.

I will now invite Mr. Hébert to answer my question.

Dr. Paul Hébert: Thank you for your question.

I would first like to say that we have taken very direct measures.
Our applications are 20% longer. English applications have
10 pages, and French applications have 12 pages. It takes longer to
explain things in French, so we very directly accommodate funding
requests submitted in French.

We provide interpretation services in peer review committees.
Reviews are carried out fairly and transparently in French when ap‐
plications are submitted in French. We have adopted all kinds of
very direct directives to help our francophone researchers.

The acceptance rates for applications in French and English are
comparable, and it's sometimes a little higher in French.

Based on simple analyses, the acceptance rate may seem a little
lower, but when you look at comparable, multivariate analyses—
and it's clear that everything has been done, in every way, taking all
the data into account—it's very clear that applications have the
same acceptance rate.
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We still have significant challenges. We appeared before the
Standing Committee on Canadian Heritage. There are challenges
for research in French in Canada, but I don't think it's solely our
problem. Francophone researchers submit their applications in En‐
glish. That means the challenge of supporting research in French
stems from other reasons.
● (1140)

Guillaume Deschênes-Thériault: I have about a minute left.

I'll turn it over to NSERC.
[English]

Dr. Alejandro Adem: Thank you for the question.

Like our sister agencies, NSERC takes this very seriously. We
have increased by 20% the space given to francophone applicants.
In our webinars, we've included specific encouragement for franco‐
phones to submit applications in their language. We are also look‐
ing very carefully at the composition of our selection committees to
ensure that francophones are well represented there, and that is very
important in encouraging scientists to apply in French.

We are also working with L'Acfas, which can advise us on how
we can facilitate the process, particularly for members of the fran‐
cophone community who are outside of Quebec, and what could
possibly be done for that. One of our council members is Dr. Jean-
Pierre Perreault, who is the president of L'Acfas and now the presi‐
dent of the Université de Sherbrooke. He is advising us in this pro‐
cess, which we really care about.

As was mentioned by Professor Hébert, we do not receive as
many applications in French as the percentage of the population.
That, of course, has to do with the fact that English is the lingua
franca in the technical areas we support, so it's an ongoing discus‐
sion.

The Chair: Your time is up.

We will now proceed to MP Blanchette-Joncas for six minutes.

Please go ahead.
[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Ms. Lamoureux, is there an independent scientific mechanism in
Canada that's able to systematically analyze the distribution of pub‐
lic research funds, taking into account both funded and unfunded
applications, that would make it possible to assess the fairness and
potential biases of the system?

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: I'm unaware of any independent body. I
can't think of one off the top of my head, but thank you for your
question. I will look into it.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Mr. Hébert, what's your answer to
my question? Is it yes or no?

Dr. Paul Hébert: For our part, we have received 500 applica‐
tions from independent researchers who have come to work, but—

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: We aren't going to run everything
back today: Do you know of one, yes or no?

Dr. Paul Hébert: No.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Okay. Fine.

Dr. Adem, I'll turn to you.

[English]

Dr. Alejandro Adem: Thank you very much for the question.

I want to mention that in the United States, in the National Sci‐
ence Foundation, there's a national centre for science and engineer‐
ing statistics.

[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: It will be in Canada, Dr. Adem. I
understand that you're reading a prepared text—

[English]

Dr. Alejandro Adem: I'm offering it as a model for creating a
statistical organization, embedded within a national science founda‐
tion, that can do the kind of analysis of the statistics and the data
that governments would like to see. I wanted to mention that. In
Canada, we have our own methodologies, but nothing of that cali‐
bre.

[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Okay.

Ms. Lamoureux, is there an independent mechanism that exam‐
ines the overall distribution of funding by discipline, by institution,
by language or by career stage?

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: No.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Okay. Mr. Hébert, as far as you
know, there isn't any.

Mr. Adem, what are your thoughts?

[English]

Dr. Alejandro Adem: As an arm's-length institution, what we do
is report on the data, so it is absolutely neutral. We just report on
the outcomes. There are dashboards where researchers and the pub‐
lic at large can see which institutions and who received what and
the distribution—

[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: That answers the question,
Mr. Adem. The answer is no, as you can confirm.

Ms. Lamoureux, you said that you support research on research
and the principles of open government. You're even in favour of
funding research on research. Yet you explain that it's quite difficult
to share the data needed to analyze the distribution of funding pro‐
vided to researchers. Where does the inconsistency lie? I'm trying
to understand.

We passed a motion here on December 3. The three granting
agencies that you and the other witnesses are representing wrote to
us on January 12 to say that it wasn't possible to access the micro‐
data needed to empirically analyze the distribution of research
funding.
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● (1145)

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: Since I don't have the letter in front of
me, I don't know exactly what words were used. It isn't that it's im‐
possible. We work closely with researchers such as Vincent Lar‐
ivière, who has appeared many times before this committee. We
make data available. Our current systems make it difficult to con‐
solidate everything. Some of our challenges are much more techno‐
logical in nature. However, other challenges relate to the type of da‐
ta requested and the parameters that we must adhere to under the
Access to Information Act and other legislation. Many of the chal‐
lenges are technical in nature.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: These challenges are technologi‐
cal. I understand. Thank you.

A number of public institutions provide secure access to micro‐
data for independent research. Why wouldn't a secure access model
be an option for analyzing the scientific funding system?

The question is for you, Ms. Lamoureux.
Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: I wouldn't say it isn't an option. Our data

can be provided to researchers to help them make progress on their
research. This research will in turn help us to make improvements.
Sooner or later, something could be put in place. I wouldn't say that
it's impossible, but not in a future—

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: I heard you loud and clear. Thank
you.

Mr. Hébert, in your opinion, without access to unfunded applica‐
tions and complete microdata, how can we empirically analyze the
potential biases in the distribution of scientific funding?

Dr. Paul Hébert: As I explained, we've already done this
500 times in the past few years with independent researchers.

The first issue lies in the fact that the data isn't always of good
quality, even though it has improved a great deal over the past five
years. There are limits in this area.

The second issue concerns the need to respect the access and pri‐
vacy rights of our researchers. Our approach is to bring the re‐
searchers to our institution. The data is analyzed on site. We've
done this 500 times. We've already published a number of articles
on the quality of our research. In terms of French‑language re‐
search, it's all done.

That isn't the problem. Is the institution independent? No. Do we
do this? Absolutely. We do it often. The data is of good quality and
our analyses are quite good.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: I'm trying to understand why you
denied a researcher access to data that you say isn't available. I
have the email in front of me. If you want, I'll read it to you. It's
dated January 25. So, who's lying?

Dr. Paul Hébert: No one is lying. I don't have the email in front
of me. I'll be happy to take a look at the situation—

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: The data is available.
Dr. Paul Hébert: I can't respond to a situation without knowing

the facts.
Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Okay. Why do you disagree with

the independent mechanism suggested by the committee?

Dr. Paul Hébert: There was a problem. I'm sorry. First, we abso‐
lutely want to make as much data available as we can in a way that
respects the rights of our researchers. Second—

[English]

The Chair: I'm sorry to interrupt. The time is up for MP
Blanchette-Joncas.

[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: I would like a written response,
Madam Chair.

Thank you.

[English]

The Chair: MP Ho, you have five minutes. Please go ahead.

Vincent Ho (Richmond Hill South, CPC): Thank you, Madam
Chair.

Today we're studying governance and accountability in federal
science policy, government policy and institutions. My first set of
questions is for the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research
Council representatives who are here today.

For NSERC, would you agree that one of your mandates is to
fund the best science, based on excellence and merit?

Dr. Alejandro Adem: Yes.

Vincent Ho: We've been seeing the Liberal government imple‐
ment these EDI plans into funding criteria over the last number of
years.

Do you think this EDI produces better research in any sense?

Dr. Alejandro Adem: I think the history behind those initiatives
is that, particularly in our discipline of sciences and engineering,
the representation of women was alarmingly low. That had to do
with the fact that women were not given the opportunity to jump
into science and engineering due to cultural issues and lack of op‐
portunities.

I think the objective is to create equal opportunity for everyone,
but certainly not—

● (1150)

Vincent Ho: I'm sorry. I understand the inclusion in terms of
having everyone being able to participate. At the same time, we're
forcing some of these.... I'm not talking about EDI. I'm talking
about these EDI statements, where the research proposals that are
being submitted have to have a diversity view to them.

For example, we're studying chemistry or astronomy or some‐
thing like that. Can you explain why there's a need to have an EDI
component to the research itself? I mean, the reaction of atoms is
probably not going to be dictated by EDI.
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Dr. Alejandro Adem: Of course, the laws of nature are the laws
of nature. Let's talk about the human involvement, like labs, for ex‐
ample. Let's talk about the culture in the labs. It can be extremely
toxic. You have a situation where there isn't openness, where there
isn't diversity—

Vincent Ho: [Inaudible—Editor]
The Chair: We'll have one person at a time, please. Otherwise,

there will be no interpretation.
Dr. Alejandro Adem: That can create very negative conse‐

quences. We've seen it historically. There are famous cases of fe‐
male scientists who were denied credit for great work that they did.

Vincent Ho: With respect, sir, we're talking about the research it‐
self and these EDI statements and objectives that need to be includ‐
ed in the research proposals. I'm not talking about the identity of
the individuals. That is another debate, of course. You're discussing
the identity of the individuals. I'm not talking about the identity of
the individuals. I'm talking about these EDI objectives that have to
be stated or included in the research criteria.

In the case of chemistry or astronomy, how do those EDI objec‐
tives produce better research?

Dr. Alejandro Adem: Sixty-five per cent of our funding goes to
trainees, students and post-docs, so you'd better have a lab where
they're treated well and you can recruit in a way that, hopefully, at
some point we'll get to a point where 50% of the scientists—

Vincent Ho: You're still not answering the question of how hav‐
ing an EDI objective.... If a researcher wants to submit a proposal
to your agency to get some funding to study something related to
chemistry or astronomy, why does it need to have an EDI objective
to it? I'm not talking about the identity of the researcher. Right now
we're seeing that being implemented across the board, in all tri-
agency councils.

Dr. Alejandro Adem: When you evaluate a proposal, there's the
quality of the science, the track record of the researcher and also
the HQP. There has to be a training plan. Science is not an abstract
thing that's just talking about molecules. There are humans in‐
volved and it's very important that it be open—that you have oppor‐
tunity that's open and transparent.

I understand the point that you're making—
Vincent Ho: I'll save the rest of my time for another.... We're not

getting anywhere here.

My next set of questions is for the Social Sciences and Humani‐
ties Research Council representatives here. Thank you for being
with us today.

How do you determine value for money for research? You over‐
see a really big agency that's granting money, and we're talking
about accountability today. How do you oversee that? How do you
measure accountability?

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: There are different ways to measure im‐
pact. The return on investment is not always economic. It can be
social. As part of our funding opportunities and what is submitted,
researchers are—

Vincent Ho: Of the research that you've granted—
The Chair: Thank you. Your time is up.

We will now proceed to MP McKelvie for five minutes.

Please go ahead.

Jennifer McKelvie (Ajax, Lib.): My first question is for Dr.
Adem.

First, I was hoping you could maybe finish the last part from
your last question.

In addition to that, it was Canada's first Nobel laureate in
physics, Dr. Hinton, who pointed out that the merit of our Canadian
funding system is that it respects the independence of researchers to
steer their research. Why is it really important that we keep re‐
search funding decisions independent of political games, no matter
what government is there?

Dr. Alejandro Adem: To finish up the other argument, science
is a human endeavour. In this modern era, we have to be open,
transparent and fair. It's all about fairness and about giving opportu‐
nity to everyone. I've seen things evolve. It used to be cliques of
grey-bearded professors in top places deciding everything. They
decided on jobs over the phone. It was very untransparent. I think
we've made great progress on that.

On the quality of the science, as you mentioned, we've had three
Nobel prizes in physics over the past 10 years. That's a testament to
the high quality of research being done in Canada, which is interna‐
tionally competitive. Professor Hinton alludes quite a bit to funding
through discovery grants. These grants allow blue-sky researchers
to develop ideas without the hindrance of being told by government
what it wants them to do—with my excuses to government. They
allow them to develop their best ideas. We see it in AI and quan‐
tum. It's in the lab where big ideas come out. Afterwards, they're
mobilized in society and the world. Canada really punches above
its weight in that aspect of the scientific endeavour.

● (1155)

Jennifer McKelvie: Thank you for your work promoting, in par‐
ticular, women in science. It was the Conservative government that
noticed we had a problem there. It was Minister Ambrose who
worked really hard to make sure the Canada excellence research
chairs program was ensuring that women had a seat at the table in
science, which is so very important. It is that Conservative woman's
legacy we're really seeing start to come to fruition, although there is
still considerable work, always, that needs to be done in that space.

My next question is for Dr. Lamoureux.
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We are talking about governance today. You are subject to all the
same governance mechanisms that other government agencies are.
There's the Auditor General, the chief science officer and the Par‐
liamentary Budget Officer. There's some ministerial oversight, but
you also have a governing-type council. I noticed that the govern‐
ing council has francophone representatives. There are the presi‐
dents of the Ontario francophone university and Université de
Montréal. You have geographic representation from coast to coast
to coast, including in the north, and indigenous representation.

Could you speak to the important role that this council of re‐
searchers—people who work in the field with that expertise—is
providing with governance or oversight? What is its role and how
does it help you?

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: The incredible diversity of our coun‐
cil.... It also includes people from colleges, universities, NGOs and
society because it's important to have as much diversity as possible.
We're not just speaking with people in our field but also getting the
outside voices. They provide great advice to the president and,
through the president, to the agency on our policies—on what we
can do better, on our processes, on what our priorities are for the
coming year and on what our risks are. That discourse is really im‐
portant to ensure that we have a cross-sectional approach and an
understanding of how SSHRC is received and lived across the
country, from coast to coast to coast.

The strategic direction is critically important, including for our
investments and the positioning of SSHRC. The advice is absolute‐
ly important. Right now, we're at 11 members. We're waiting for
some new appointments to be made. We're looking forward to hav‐
ing that continued diversity not just from the academic colleges and
universities but also from wider representation. When we say that
research impacts all Canadians, we really want to make sure there's
a way of getting that through our council, through that advice.

The Chair: We will now proceed with MP Blanchette-Joncas for
two and a half minutes.

Please go ahead.
[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Mr. Hébert, have you carried out any internal analyses to identify
possible biases or discrepancies in the distribution of research fund‐
ing?

Dr. Paul Hébert: Are you talking about the biases found in the
systems?

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Within your organization, have
you carried out any internal analyses that identify possible biases or
discrepancies in the distribution of research funding?

Dr. Paul Hébert: Absolutely. We do this for every competition.
Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Do these internal analyses also in‐

clude unfunded applications?
Dr. Paul Hébert: Absolutely. That's our point of comparison.
Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Good.

Could you send the committee all your analyses over the past
25 years?

● (1200)

Dr. Paul Hébert: I would have to take a look at whether that's
possible. If you make an official request, we'll be happy to look into
it.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Ms. Lamoureux, is it the same for
you?

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: We'll look at all the information avail‐
able over the past 50 years.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Thank you. The past 25 years will
do.

Mr. Adem, can we count on you to provide this information? Do
you carry out internal analyses of research funding biases?

[English]

Dr. Alejandro Adem: Of course, the members of the review
committees will decide on the grants. They're scientists. Hundreds
of scientists come together. They're given anti-bias training indica‐
tions, and then we very carefully measure the applications, what the
percentages were and what the outcomes are to ensure that it aligns.

[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: That wasn't my question, but thank
you for trying to answer it.

Ms. Lamoureux, I'm trying to understand. We want access to mi‐
crodata so that researchers can carry out research on research.

We're in a committee here, and we're legislators. We want to
make the best decisions based on the best public policies.

In this case, we're asking you to create a mechanism, a gateway.
However, you're talking about technological and privacy issues. I
want us to respect all this and help you. Do you understand that, to
make really good public policy, we need to carry out scientific anal‐
yses on microdata? This will help us to identify the determinants if
any biases are involved in research funding.

Do we agree on this? How can we help you to implement these
analyses?

Dr. Sylvie Lamoureux: I'll give the floor to my colleague,
Valérie Laflamme, who can answer your question.

Dr. Valérie Laflamme (Associate Vice-President, Tri-agency
Institutional Programs Secretariat, Social Sciences and Human‐
ities Research Council): This analysis of systemic barriers and bi‐
ases is deeply embedded in all our analyses and decisions. These
analyses aren't carried out separately. They play a part in the deci‐
sion‑making process, in the same way that we apply gender‑based
analysis plus measures in our analyses.

I want to make sure that I understand your request. In our case,
we can't give you a separate document showing this bias analysis. It
covers everything that the granting agencies do on a day‑to‑day ba‐
sis in their decision‑making process.
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Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Okay.
[English]

The Chair: The time is up—
[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Madam Chair, I would like to ask
the three granting agencies to provide a written response to my
somewhat technical but key question.
[English]

The Chair: Was your question not answered just now?
[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: No. Not at all.

We'll have some time to think about this issue so that we can ex‐
pand on the idea.
[English]

The Chair: I hope the witnesses are okay to send in the answer.

Thank you.

With that, this panel comes to an end. I really want to thank all of
our witnesses from this panel for contributing to this important
study.

With that, this meeting is suspended so that the second panel can
take their places.

Once again, on behalf of all the members of the committee, I
thank you for appearing before the committee.

This meeting is suspended.
● (1200)

_____________________(Pause)_____________________

● (1205)

The Chair: I would request all the members to please take their
seats.

I would like to make a few comments for the benefit of the wit‐
nesses and all the members. Please wait until I recognize you by
name before speaking. For those participating by video conference,
click on the microphone icon to activate your mic, and please mute
yourself when you are not speaking. For those on Zoom, at the bot‐
tom of your screen you can select the appropriate channel for inter‐
pretation: floor, English or French. As a reminder, all comments
should be addressed through the chair.

I would like to welcome our witnesses for this second panel.

Today, for this panel, we are joined by the Canada Foundation
for Innovation, represented by Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau, president
and chief executive officer. He is joined by Dr. Mohamad Nasser-
Eddine, vice-president of programs and planning. We also have
with us the National Research Council of Canada, represented by
president Mitch Davies, as well as Dr. Julie Lefebvre, vice-presi‐
dent, emerging technologies. Our third witness for this panel is the
Office of the Chief Science Advisor of Canada. We have Dr. Mona
Nemer, the chief science adviser.

Welcome to all the witnesses. Thank you for joining this panel.
All of you will have five minutes for your opening remarks, and
then we will go to our rounds of questioning.

We will start with Dr. Charbonneau.

Please go ahead.

● (1210)

[Translation]

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau (President and Chief Executive Of‐
ficer, Canada Foundation for Innovation): Madam Chair, thank
you for inviting me to appear before your committee.

The Canada Foundation for Innovation is delighted to participate
in this discussion and in your study on the governance and account‐
ability of federal science policy and institutions.

We believe that good governance, transparency and accountabili‐
ty are key to maintaining public confidence in Canada's science and
research ecosystem. This particularly holds true at a time when in‐
vesting public funds in research and research infrastructure requires
considerable resources and when expectations for results are high.

[English]

The CFI was created by Parliament in 1997, and since then has
invested in almost 14,000 research infrastructure projects. These
projects support the cutting-edge work of researchers and students
at universities, colleges, research hospitals and not-for-profit re‐
search corporations across Canada. We have leveraged $12 billion
of Government of Canada funding into a total investment of $27
billion through matching funds from the provinces, the private sec‐
tor and others. The CFI's role is not to set science policy, but to sup‐
port institutions to carry it out through investments like these.

In my opening remarks I would like to leave you with three key
takeaways about the CFI's governance structures that support ac‐
countability to Canadians.

The first is that the CFI operates at arm's length from the federal
government, with a distinct mandate to invest in research infras‐
tructure and operations at institutions across Canada. We are ac‐
countable to Parliament through the Minister of Industry. We pro‐
vide corporate plans, annual reports and regular evaluation as part
of that accountability. A defining feature of our funding model is
our direct relationship with the provinces. It allows us to work
closely with provincial partners to align investment and make time‐
ly, strategic funding decisions based on research infrastructure pri‐
orities identified across the country.
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My second key takeaway is that organizations like the CFI are
subject to multiple rigorous layers of oversight. We designed our
oversight model to protect the integrity of public funds. At its core,
this approach relies on independent expert peer review of funding
proposals, assessed against published criteria and using structured
processes to ensure consistency and fairness.

The CFI is governed by a board of directors, almost half of
whom are appointed by the Government of Canada. The board is
responsible for strategic direction, financial oversight and risk man‐
agement. The board makes final funding decisions with clear ac‐
countability, robust conflict of interest management and a docu‐
mented rationale for each decision. Institutions must submit regular
financial reports for all their funded projects, and the CFI performs
audits to ensure funds are used as intended. We also monitor insti‐
tutions to ensure that they have appropriate processes and controls
in place to manage their awards. Our financial statements are audit‐
ed annually, and we report publicly on our website on funded
projects and outcomes so that Canadians can see how investments
are used and what they achieve.

Measuring our impact is central to our accountability. We assess
impact at the project, program and system levels by tracking re‐
sults, evaluating outcomes and examining how our investments
strengthen Canada's research ecosystem. This evidence is used to
improve performance and ensure continued relevance across the
full life cycle of the research infrastructure we fund. The CFI's ac‐
countability and funding framework is built on trust from our stake‐
holders, which we have earned through clear results. It is reinforced
by rigorous governance, independent expert review, transparent de‐
cision-making and ongoing oversight.
● (1215)

[Translation]

The third point that I would like to address concerns the CFI's in‐
vestments in research infrastructure.

There are tangible benefits here for Canadians. This type of in‐
vestment enhances research capabilities, promotes innovation and
contributes to economic growth and well‑being across the country.

[English]

In summary, I offer you again these three points.

First, the CFI operates at arm's length with a distinct mandate to
invest in research infrastructure and operations at institutions across
Canada.

Second, we have in place strong checks and balances to ensure
public funds are managed responsibly.

Third, the research infrastructure we support plays a critical role
in strengthening Canada's innovation capacity and long-term pros‐
perity.

Thank you. I look forward to answering your questions.
The Chair: Thank you.

With that, we will now proceed to Mr. Davies, who is represent‐
ing the National Research Council of Canada.

Mr. Davies, you will have five minutes for your opening re‐
marks. Please go ahead.

Mitch Davies (President, National Research Council of
Canada): Thank you, Madam Chair, for the invitation to speak to
you today on behalf of the National Research Council of Canada as
part of this committee study.

[Translation]

I would like to start by acknowledging that the National Re‐
search Council of Canada, or NRC, carries out its activities on the
unceded traditional territories of the first nations, Inuit and Métis
peoples. We recognize the privilege of conducting our research and
activities on these lands. We respect the peoples who have cared for
them.

The NRC is Canada's largest federal research and innovation or‐
ganization. Its mission is to advance knowledge, apply lead‐
ing‑edge technologies and work with other innovators to find cre‐
ative, relevant and sustainable solutions to the country's current and
future economic, social and environmental challenges. Its special‐
ized facilities and expertise help it to bring together scientists, in‐
dustry players and academia, as well as international partners, for
collaborative innovation initiatives.

[English]

The NRC employs 4,500 full-time equivalent staff, including
2,300 scientists, engineers and technicians, who work in 24 sites
across Canada. In 2024-25, the NRC's total expenditures
were $1.708 billion, including $639.7 million in grants and contri‐
butions. Total revenue to the NRC over this period was $203.4 mil‐
lion, with 53% of this revenue from other government departments
and 36% from industry. For the NRC, these revenues tie many of
our activities to the direct delivery of value to our clients. We're do‐
ing value-added work for industry, and we're doing work that's re‐
sponding to the needs of businesses and the priorities of the govern‐
ment and the country.

Within the NRC, our research spans four key areas, reflected in
our 2024-29 strategic plan: digital and quantum technologies,
health and biomanufacturing, climate change and sustainability, and
the support of foundational research. Across these areas, our mis‐
sion-oriented work supports national priorities such as housing, de‐
fence, quantum technologies, artificial intelligence and clean ener‐
gy. In 2024, NRC researchers produced 1,473 peer-reviewed publi‐
cations, filed 222 patents and engaged almost 1,000 clients.
Through the NRC's challenge programs and ideation fund, we have
collaborated with over 650 researchers across 95 academic and
public institutions.
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The NRC also supports and funds projects in innovative Canadi‐
an companies. For over 75 years, the NRC has supported Canadian
small and medium-sized businesses through its industrial research
assistance program known as IRAP. NRC IRAP helps SMEs grow
and innovate and positions them to contribute to Canada's industrial
development. IRAP at its core is designed to stimulate business in‐
novation in Canadian SMEs to create new products, services and
industrial processes.
[Translation]

In 2024‑25, the industrial research assistance program, or IRAP,
served over 9,000 clients. It provided financial assistance to
3,136 companies and consulting services to 6,051 companies. This
support helped to maintain around 13,750 jobs across Canada.

The NRC operates within a strong framework of governance and
accountability. As a federal departmental corporation, the NRC re‐
ports to Parliament through the Minister of Industry. It shares its
plans and results with the public through its annual report, depart‐
mental plan and departmental results report.
[English]

We are overseen by a statutory NRC council drawn from the
stakeholder community and are subject to Treasury Board policies,
including the policy on results. Funding decisions are merit-based,
guided by clear eligibility and assessment criteria. Grants and con‐
tribution agreements are administered under the Government of
Canada's policy on transfer payments. Conflict of interest safe‐
guards, research integrity standards and research security measures
apply across all NRC activities.

NRC's programs are evaluated on a regular cycle. Over the last
five years, the NRC has undertaken 15 evaluations and 31 audits.
Our five-year strategic plan was developed with input from external
and internal stakeholders, the NRC council and the advisory coun‐
cils of each of our research centres.

We ask our clients and collaborators how we're doing every year.
According to our 2025 client impact survey, 95% of our clients re‐
port that the NRC helped them achieve results. The NRC is com‐
mitted to strengthening Canada's research innovation capacity and
contributing to Canada's prosperity and sustainability.

Thank you, Madam Chair. I look forward to answering the ques‐
tions from the committee today.
● (1220)

The Chair: Thank you.

We will now proceed to Dr. Mona Nemer, chief science adviser
of Canada.

Please go ahead, Dr. Nemer. You will have five minutes for your
opening remarks.
[Translation]

Dr. Mona Nemer (Chief Science Advisor of Canada, Office of
the Chief Science Advisor of Canada): Thank you.

Madam Chair and honourable committee members, thank you
for this opportunity to contribute to your study. I'm here, of course,
in my capacity as chief science adviser. However, my comments

are also informed by my decades of experience as a scientist, re‐
search director and academic vice‑president of research. These dif‐
ferent roles gave me the opportunity to observe our scientific
ecosystem from the perspective of the academic, public and private
sectors.

[English]

Canada invests billions of dollars each year in research and de‐
velopment. These investments enable discovery and the training of
highly qualified individuals, who in turn contribute to Canada's
economy. The investments also help to improve public health and
safety, strengthen our economy and help Canada respond to global
challenges.

For these investments to achieve their full potential, they must be
guided by clear national objectives. As I have testified to this com‐
mittee in the past, a national science, technology and innovation
strategy can help define those objectives and provide a framework
for measuring progress and accountability over time.

[Translation]

Accountability in science policy is sometimes equated with fi‐
nancial oversight. This oversight seeks to ensure that public funds
are spent appropriately and in keeping with the established rules.
This is essential, of course. Both research institutions and funders
have strong accountability mechanisms in place. However, account‐
ability, in a broader sense, encompasses issues such as whether
public investments align with national priorities and whether they
generate societal benefits for everyone.

[English]

Naturally, different types of research require different approaches
to evaluation and accountability. For example, the goal of basic re‐
search is to support discovery, to expand knowledge and to train the
next generation of researchers. On the other hand, mission-driven
or targeted research programs are designed to address specific soci‐
etal or economic challenges, such as technology development,
health innovation or food security. Accountability for these two dis‐
tinct public investments in science requires different metrics and
comparators, starting with program design, award criteria and time‐
lines for deliverables. Recognizing these distinctions allows us to
design accountability mechanisms that are appropriate to the nature
of the research programs, whether they address talent, infrastructure
or operations.



14 SRSR-28 March 12, 2026

A national science, technology and innovation strategy would
play a critical role in this regard. By defining national priorities and
desired outcomes, such a strategy would provide a reference point
against which progress could be measured and program effective‐
ness could be assessed. The national strategy should be guided by
an advisory council on science and innovation composed of distin‐
guished scientists, innovators and leaders from the public and pri‐
vate sectors, offering independent advice so that Canada's science
and innovation agenda is informed by the best available knowledge
and expertise.

The proposed capstone science organization could also con‐
tribute significantly to a robust and transparent effort to maximize
the impact of federal investments. By consolidating the many feder‐
al research funding programs under one roof, a clearer system-wide
perspective on gaps, redundancies and alignment with national pri‐
orities, be they global leadership, talent development or socio-eco‐
nomic innovation, would be more attainable.
● (1225)

[Translation]

In conclusion, a national science strategy supported by a modern‐
ized research funding organization and an independent advisory
council working with the office of the chief science adviser would
help Canada move towards a more consistent, effective and ac‐
countable research system that looks to the future, sets clear goals,
measures progress with appropriate tools and ensures that federal
investments produce lasting benefits for Canadians.

Thank you.
[English]

The Chair: Thank you.

We will now begin our first round of questioning for six minutes
each. We will begin with MP Baldinelli.

Please go ahead.
Tony Baldinelli (Niagara Falls—Niagara-on-the-Lake, CPC):

Thank you, Madam Chair.

Thank you, witnesses, for being with us today and particularly
for the role each of you play in our federal research ecosystem.

I'm going to begin with Dr. Charbonneau, if I can.

I appreciated your remarks on how the Canada Foundation for
Innovation works to ensure good governance, transparency and ac‐
countability, and how you work to strengthen trust in our research
ecosystem. You talked about accountability and transparency mech‐
anisms. In fact, you talked about how the organization works with
institutions. They have to submit financial reports, and the CFI per‐
forms audits to ensure that funds are used as intended. This is all
excellent to see because I think what you said in your remarks is
key: that measuring our impact is central to our accountability.

Part of that measurement, I would suggest, is not only the allo‐
cating of the funds but also the results of how those funds are allo‐
cated. What's the success factor? We currently spend about $10 bil‐
lion on publicly funded research in Canada. However, Canada only
holds about 12% of patents. That means that 87% of Canadian-gen‐
erated IP from taxpayers is foreign-owned. How do we measure

success when precious taxpayer dollars are funding innovation that
serves other countries' economies and societies and not Canada's?

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: Indeed, we have to ensure that the
investments the federal government puts into this research infras‐
tructure are well accounted for. We do this in partnership with the
provinces. I should be clear that the investments we are making are
institutional investments and are not geared towards single re‐
searchers.

Having said that, every year, in the annual report that we pro‐
duce, we have clear accountability with regard to output and out‐
comes from these programs. Infrastructure is there not only for a
single project but also for a number of programs existing within
colleges, universities or research hospitals. Part of the data we're
gathering as well is how many spinoffs have been created with the
utilization of this infrastructure and how many contracts the univer‐
sities and colleges are getting through the utilization of this infras‐
tructure from the private sector.

With regard to IP, I have numbers for you. Over the last five
years, there have been 200 provisional patents and PCTs have been
filed with the investment we have made. The number of researchers
who have found ways into the private sector and the overall ecosys‐
tem in Canada...so we do track these things as part of the perfor‐
mance evaluations and risk assessments we do on a regular basis.

Tony Baldinelli: Is there any follow-up from the federal govern‐
ment with regard to the funding it provides? Does it come back and
ask, for example, “For the dollars we're providing, what are the re‐
sults we are getting?” Is the government asking for specific results
for the targeted dollars it's providing?

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: There is a formal performance eval‐
uation and risk assessment done by the federal government every
five years. Right now, we're almost at the tail end of one. With each
one of our contribution agreements that we sign with the federal
government, there are clear key performance indicators that are put
in the documents, and we have to report on these to Parliament ev‐
ery year. That's related to what I was mentioning earlier about all
the KPIs that are put in place. These KPIs will vary, depending on
the program being launched. We can talk about the biomanufactur‐
ing investment that was made or the more recent impact+ chairs
that were—

● (1230)

Tony Baldinelli: Maybe I should have asked this question in the
earlier round.

Are those kinds of KPIs—that insistence by the federal govern‐
ment for the dollars—also applied to the tri-agencies? Would you
know?

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: You would have to ask them.

Tony Baldinelli: Okay.

Dr. Nemer, I'm going to come to you now. Thank you for being
here. It's good to see you again.
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Your mandate speaks to providing advice to the federal govern‐
ment, and one part of your mandate talks about assessing and rec‐
ommending “ways to improve the existing science advisory func‐
tion within the federal government”. In January 2026, the govern‐
ment announced the closure of seven agricultural research institutes
across the country. Just recently, 15 national agricultural organiza‐
tions wrote to the government's agriculture committee to indicate
that closing these agricultural research centres will undermine re‐
search that they say is fundamental to keeping food affordable in
Canada.

As Canada's science adviser, did you provide advice on this deci‐
sion?

Dr. Mona Nemer: Thank you for the question.

These decisions were made at the level of each department, and I
was not asked to provide advice in this instance on the impact or
options around this.

Tony Baldinelli: There was no consultation with your office at
all before this decision was made.

Dr. Mona Nemer: Not in this case.
Tony Baldinelli: Ultimately, what does that say about the gov‐

ernment's position, faith and trust in an organization establishing...?
What's the point of having a chief science adviser of Canada if not
to advise on a decision that they're taking to cut research centres,
seven critical research centres throughout the country that 15 na‐
tional organizations in this country say help to ensure food afford‐
ability in this country? What does that say about their commitment,
their view and their position on your office?

Dr. Mona Nemer: You'll have to ask the department in question
in this case, but there are accountabilities that are vertical in our
system and there are some that are more horizontal. It's up to de‐
partments to seek advice from me or not seek it. They have no obli‐
gation.

Tony Baldinelli: Could you just quickly provide to the commit‐
tee your thoughts on the closure of those offices and whether or not
that was the right decision? You can provide that in writing to us.

The Chair: Thank you.

Now, we will proceed to MP Rana for six minutes.

Please go ahead.
Aslam Rana (Hamilton Centre, Lib.): Thank you, Madam

Chair.

Thank you to all the witnesses for your valuable time.

Dr. Charbonneau, given the committee's interest in data trans‐
parency, what information does CFI currently publish about its
funded projects? Are there areas where greater accessibility or clar‐
ity would help to publicly evaluate impacts?

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: For every single application that has
been funded, the results are published on the CFI website.

I should say first that there is a sequence that needs to take place.
There is a notice of intent first, which is published nationally. The
idea behind that is to bring institutions together to make sure there
is no duplication taking place across the country. From there on,
formal applications are submitted. Then there's a series of peer re‐

view committees that go through the sequences of multidisciplinary
access, if you wish. All of this data is on the CFI website.

Aslam Rana: Dr. Mohamad Nasser-Eddine, welcome.

When CFI reviews major infrastructure proposals, how do you
ensure that assessment criteria are applied consistently and that the
process remains transparent, particularly for the institutions with
fewer internal resources to support their applications?

Dr. Mohamad Nasser-Eddine (Vice-President of Programs
and Planning, Canada Foundation for Innovation): Thank you
for the question.

For every competition that we issue, as Dr. Charbonneau men‐
tioned, we have established criteria that are published on our web‐
site. We make sure that in the design of the assessment process, it's
all based on merit and that the merit review process is also conduct‐
ed in a transparent, rigorous and independent way that only rewards
excellence.

The outcome of this process is also leveraged to provide con‐
structive feedback to all the projects that are submitted to us,
whether the project gets funded or not, because those that are not
funded may return back to CFI stronger in the next competition. We
ensure, at the project level, this transparency, and since these
projects are also institutions, the institution can also see all these re‐
view materials.

When it comes to our board, which would take the final decision
on these projects, they will also have this kind of assurance that the
whole merit review process was conducted in a fair and transparent
way that was also exempt of any bias that one could have on many
levels. I hope that this answers your question.

● (1235)

Aslam Rana: Thank you very much.

Could you please describe how CFI monitors whether funded fa‐
cilities continue to meet their intended objectives over time?

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: As I was mentioning earlier, we
keep track of all the investment that is being made at the CFI level
in collaboration with our partner provinces, of course, and the insti‐
tutions. We keep monitoring them for a period of years. Every year
we get the data that has accumulated, and we gather that and look at
it in slightly different ways in terms of the success rate by province,
by activity or vertically, if you wish.

Aslam Rana: Thank you very much.

Mr. Davies, how does the NRC ensure its research agenda stays
aligned with broader national science priorities and is not siloed
within separate internal branches?

Mitch Davies: Thank you for the question.
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There are two important levels at which we can work to ensure
that we're contributing to an overall coherent approach for science.
The first, which I mentioned in my opening comments, is our
strategic planning process, which is now set in place. It's a strategic
plan for five years that we're coming up on halfway through. That
is undertaken with a lot of consultation and engagement.

One mechanism available to me and the NRC, as well as the
granting bodies and other folks who have been before the commit‐
tee, is that we all serve on the same committee to foster coordina‐
tion among us in terms of our priorities and our way of working.
You see that come to life when we create joint programming in ar‐
eas of national priority. For example, in quantum, with our col‐
leagues at NSERC, we have jointly funded a number of areas to ac‐
celerate and advance a very important area of opportunity for the
country. At the high level, it's by having a transparent planning pro‐
cess ourselves, being open to feedback and validating that with the
people we work with, more or less day-to-day, quite frankly.

I would say priorities do change, and we've seen, even over the
last number of years, the kinds of challenges Canada is facing and
the things we need to respond to. We had an announcement on
Monday of a significant investment on our part in defence-related
research activity as part of this overall effort. That's something we
all have to be responsive to. It's incumbent upon us, as heads of
these organizations, to work closely together, and that's what we
endeavour to do.

Aslam Rana: Given the committee's interest in data transparen‐
cy, what steps has NRC taken to improve access to information
about its programs, research outcomes and performance indicators?

Mitch Davies: Our report through the minister on our objectives
and performance allows you to see how each research centre of the
National Research Council has performed against its goals. There's
quite a high level of information provided in that regard, and it's
quite responsive to many questions that people would have of us.

The Chair: Thank you. The time is up.

We will now go to MP Blanchette-Joncas for six minutes.

Please go ahead.

[Translation]
Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Thank you, Madam Chair.

I'd like to welcome the witnesses who are with us today.

Dr. Nemer, it's good to have you with us again today.

In your experience, is there currently a mechanism in Canada,
whether independent or within the government, capable of system‐
atically analyzing the distribution of public research funding and its
effects over time?

Dr. Mona Nemer: Thank you for that question, which is a com‐
plex one.

Are there any independent mechanisms to find out where the
money is going and how it's being spent? Is there an integrated in‐
dependent mechanism that can analyze the impact of investments?
There are none that I'm aware of.

● (1240)

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: In your report titled “Towards a
National Scientific Data Governance Framework”, you state that
scientific data constitute a national asset and that their governance
in Canada remains fragmented. Do you think this fragmentation
could limit the ability to conduct scientific analyses of research
funding policies and ensure rigorous accountability?

Dr. Mona Nemer: I should point out that the report focused on
research data. Obviously, the same could be said of raw data on
funding or publications, for example. So I think this is an area
where we need to work together seriously. This may not be an issue
that gets people excited, but it's essential if we are to make in‐
formed decisions.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Thank you very much, Chief Sci‐
ence Advisor. I think people clearly recognize that.

I understand that you're saying this is important. What I'm trying
to understand is whether we currently have the tools and data need‐
ed to analyze our own research funding system.

Dr. Mona Nemer: The research funding system is very complex.
So, if, for example, we're trying to determine whether federal in‐
vestments in areas such as artificial intelligence or agriculture are
having an impact, we have to go and find data from at least a dozen
organizations and sort through it. All of that is doable, but it would
take a long time because the information isn't integrated. There are
a multitude of programs and, incidentally, there are also programs
within departments themselves, as your colleague mentioned earlier
when speaking about the Department of Agriculture and Agri-
Food. So we simply need to keep in mind that when we talk about
federal investments in science, we're not just talking about what the
three granting councils, the Canada Foundation for Innovation or
the National Research Council of Canada give to federal facilities
or institutions.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: As I understand it, when it comes
to public research funding, from a scientific perspective, the only
way to rigorously assess that equity is to empirically analyze the
variables that influence success rates, as well as their distribution
within the funding system. Is that correct?

Dr. Mona Nemer: First, data are fundamental. Second, we also
need to define more clearly the equity question we're asking: Are
we talking about equity among certain populations, among certain
geographic areas, among certain fields?

With the right data, anything is possible.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Again, I would like to emphasize
microdata, more commonly referred to in the scientific field as dis‐
aggregated data. In your opinion, if we want to conduct a scientific
analysis of how the research funding system works, is access to this
microdata—in a secure and anonymized setting, of course—an es‐
sential condition?
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Dr. Mona Nemer: Once again, having data is essential; other‐
wise I don't see what we would base our analysis on. You can't ana‐
lyze things based on anecdotes.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: I couldn't agree more. I think many
of us have anecdotes we could share.

I now have a question about secure access. As you know, in
many areas of public policy, secure environments allow researchers
to analyze sensitive administrative data. To your knowledge, could
a similar model be considered for studying, in particular, the re‐
search funding system in Canada, or even other issues?

Dr. Mona Nemer: I think you're referring to the system that al‐
lows researchers to access Statistics Canada data for analysis or re‐
search, among other things.

It depends on whether we have the data or not. To what extent do
Statistics Canada or other organizations have this data? If the data
exist, we've already shown that it's possible to provide secure ac‐
cess, under certain conditions, so that the appropriate analyses can
be carried out.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: I have a question that has really
been on my mind for several months. Researchers have come here
and told us that they don't have access to certain data, microdata, to
conduct research on the research system itself. One of the three
granting councils, the Social Sciences and Humanities Research
Council, provided that data to a researcher. The other two refuse to
do so, citing confidentiality and privacy concerns or, as we heard a
little earlier, technological issues.

What do you think about this? You've spoken about the impor‐
tance of data governance, and I'm looking for solutions to these
problems.
● (1245)

Dr. Mona Nemer: I can tell you that we have a long way to go
from a technological standpoint, that's for sure. There are a number
of researchers who would very much like us to have much simpler
and more accessible systems. I think it depends on whether you
make it a priority or not. Anything is possible. It depends on the
priority given to it, but I think data is essential. We can't compare
ourselves to the rest of the planet, and we can't know what the im‐
pact of our investments is if we don't have access to reliable and
verified data.
[English]

The Chair: We will now start our second round of questioning
with MP Ho for five minutes.

Please go ahead.
Vincent Ho: Thank you, Madam Chair.

My first set of questions is for the head of the National Research
Council. You mentioned that you're subject to Treasury Board over‐
sight and requirements. Is that right? Today we're talking about ac‐
countability.

I'm sorry. Is that a yes?
Mitch Davies: It is.
Vincent Ho: Would you consider your department to be fiscally

responsible?

Mitch Davies: Yes, I would.
Vincent Ho: Four months ago, it was reported that your depart‐

ment had spent $61,000 on rooftop patio furniture for your offices.
Would you consider that decision to be fiscally responsible?

Mitch Davies: Yes, I would, and the process by which we ar‐
rived at the purchase was also responsible and consistent with what
you'd expect in norms in procurement. We had an open tender. We
completed a rooftop space that can seat 70 to 100 people. We pur‐
chased plastic furniture made in Quebec. It's for the overall comple‐
tion of a building that the government spent $70 million on in order
to provide a collaboration centre for researchers.

Vincent Ho: One of your managers said they didn't want basic
patio furniture. Therefore, this decision had to be made to buy more
luxurious furniture. Is that correct?

Mitch Davies: It is in fact the case that furniture that wouldn't
hold up on the roof for 10 to 20 years, which is what we wanted, or
that would leave the roof in a strong wind would not have met re‐
quirements. We bought plastic furniture that's robust—it's there per‐
manently and it can be washed off every spring and used—for the
completion of the building.

Vincent Ho: To be clear, you thought it was a good use of tax‐
payer money, then.

Mitch Davies: It completed the design.
Vincent Ho: It was $61,000.
Mitch Davies: This is an advanced materials centre, probably

the most leading centre for doing—
Vincent Ho: Would you spend $61,000—
Taleeb Noormohamed (Vancouver Granville, Lib.): I have a

point of order, Madam Chair. He's asked a question. We can't hear
the answer.

The Chair: Let's have one person speaking at a time.

Mr. Ho, please allow the witness to respond.
Vincent Ho: I will ask the question again.

You said that $61,000 would be a good use of taxpayer money.
Would you spend $61,000 on your own patio furniture?

Mitch Davies: I wouldn't be housing 70 to 100 people in a work‐
place.

Voices: Oh, oh!

Mitch Davies: I don't mean to be argumentative. I think it's a
certain level of expenditure—

Vincent Ho: What does your team do on the roof?
Mitch Davies: What has been done is that it's a building to bring

in university, industry and two departments of research. We're
bringing in people and we want to have them touch down and col‐
laborate when they're in that building. That's the whole purpose of
it.

Vincent Ho: Can you not do it inside the building?
Mitch Davies: In fact, we've used the roof—
Vincent Ho: It snows half the year.
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Taleeb Noormohamed: I have a point of order, Madam Chair.
Again—

The Chair: One person at a time, please. Otherwise, the inter‐
preters cannot do the translation.

Vincent Ho: It is my time.

Can you not do it inside? It snows half the year.
Mitch Davies: We do get good use of that facility. It has in fact

made use of the roof. The designer of the building is a Laboratories
Canada project to create a collaboration centre for advanced materi‐
als research, which now is working on creating material process‐
es—

Vincent Ho: Okay. I've heard enough.
Mitch Davies: —to get the benefit from Canada's critical materi‐

al wealth—
Vincent Ho: I'll move on to another topic.

My next set of questions is for the chief science adviser.

In your earlier testimony, you referred to the January 2026 deci‐
sion by Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada that announced the clo‐
sure of seven research facilities nationwide, including three re‐
search centres and four satellite research farms, and the firing of
600 staff and scientists. Just to confirm, you were not consulted on
or notified about this decision prior to the shutting down of these
facilities.

Dr. Mona Nemer: No, I was not.
Vincent Ho: How do you feel about that? Do you think you

should be consulted, as the chief science adviser?
Dr. Mona Nemer: Very simply speaking, yes, I would love to

have been consulted. Recognizing the fiscal pressures and every‐
thing, I think having a horizontal view of which activities are being
done, and where, in government can perhaps help streamline and
perhaps maintain certain activities at a lesser cost or do something
else about it.
● (1250)

Vincent Ho: You're saying that your opinion would have mat‐
tered had you been consulted before that firing. You're the chief sci‐
ence adviser. If we're firing hundreds of scientists, it would be in‐
cumbent on the government—the Liberal government, which made
the decision—to consult you before making that decision.

Dr. Mona Nemer: I don't know if it would have made a differ‐
ence, but I think it would have been useful to consult someone
who's sort of independent, who's not conflicted and who under‐
stands —

Vincent Ho: Right. I have a second question.
Dr. Mona Nemer: —whether the actions are consistent with the

objectives.
Vincent Ho: Do you think shutting these facilities would affect

our agricultural competitiveness at all?
Dr. Mona Nemer: Unfortunately, I can't comment, because I

don't have the entire file. These decisions were made by the depart‐
ment after analysis. I don't have the analysis.

The Chair: Thank you.

We will now proceed to MP Noormohamed for five minutes.

Please go ahead.
Taleeb Noormohamed: Thank you so much, Madam Chair.

I'd like to start with you, Dr. Nemer, with regard to the interest‐
ing conversation here about the research institutes that were closed.
There was a study on benchmarking Canadian retail beef flavour
for close to $300,000 at one of those institutes. Can you give me a
very short snippet of why understanding the flavour of beef at one
of these research institutes that my friend is concerned about would
be so essential to the scientific framework of this country?

Dr. Mona Nemer: Unfortunately, I can't give you a scientific an‐
swer, because I'm not aware of the file.

I can tell you whether or not I like beef, which....

Voices: Oh, oh!
Taleeb Noormohamed: That isn't how I make my decisions.

We've heard a lot about the lost decade of science in government
when the Harper Conservatives were in power. There are numerous
studies about how scientists were muzzled. Scientists in the public
service were muzzled and consistently told they couldn't speak pub‐
licly. Are you aware of that era in government?

Dr. Mona Nemer: I am aware of the past 20 or 30 years, having
been in science for that long. One of the first things I did when I
joined government in this role was to develop a science integrity
policy that allows government researchers to speak freely about
their work.

Taleeb Noormohamed: When did you take on this role—just for
everyone's benefit?

Dr. Mona Nemer: It was on September 27, 2017.
Taleeb Noormohamed: It was in 2017.

You've only been in this role under Liberal governments. Is that
correct?

Dr. Mona Nemer: That's correct.
Taleeb Noormohamed: Have you ever felt like you've been

muzzled?
Dr. Mona Nemer: No.
Taleeb Noormohamed: Have you ever felt like the researchers

working in science in this government have not been able to speak
their minds freely?

Dr. Mona Nemer: I haven't had complaints about that.
Taleeb Noormohamed: Have there been any Integrity Commis‐

sioner complaints regarding the way scientists have been treated by
this government?

Dr. Mona Nemer: I can refer you to the science integrity policy,
which requires a compliance review every year. We publish these
online.

Taleeb Noormohamed: I'm sorry. I couldn't hear your answer
because there were some conversations from across the way about
sending scientists to a food bank.

Could you repeat your answer?
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Dr. Mona Nemer: There are 25 departments and agencies in
which science is happening, including the National Research Coun‐
cil, where the science integrity policy is in effect. This allows us to
have a yearly evaluation and compliance report published.

Taleeb Noormohamed: Over the last eight years you've been in
this role, what has the state of the research community and science
been within the Government of Canada?

Dr. Mona Nemer: In the past seven or eight years, we have been
doing quite a bit of research, both inside the Government of Canada
and outside.

The investments in science are never enough, but they certainly
have been consistent. There have been appropriate increases in in‐
vestment in science and technology.

Taleeb Noormohamed: Thank you.

I'm going to now turn to Mr. Davies.

One thing we often hear from the Conservative Party is that there
is a demand for tangible research outcomes. Otherwise, it's proba‐
bly not worth anything. However, we had one witness, a couple of
meetings ago, talk about the importance of, for example, the invest‐
ments made in quantum mechanics. Those allowed quantum com‐
puting to take hold many years later.

Can you talk about the importance of investing in science and re‐
search today that may not have a tangible, specific outcome in the
moment but that lead to future innovation and research?
● (1255)

Mitch Davies: The way to think about investments in science is
to understand that it's all done with uncertainty. It's a similar thing
to what the entrepreneur will undertake. They have to invest, but
there's no assurance the business will succeed. There may not be an
assurance that pursuing a particular avenue of research will suc‐
ceed. It is inherently risky. The outcome might be that you learn
what does not work, in many cases. You may reorient what you're
trying to do so you can achieve a breakthrough.

Then there are the results, which can be quite profound. In fact,
this was referenced in earlier testimony on artificial intelligence.
It's the type of research that, now, we take for granted. It is embed‐
ded in the phone technology we're all using, and it's become ubiqui‐
tous. At the original point in time when it was introduced in the re‐
search milieu, there was a lot of skepticism regarding whether it
would work and whether it was valid.

The issue is to have a system that supports that kind of investiga‐
tion and openness and allows for it to be pursued. We're going to
find a lot of fruit in taking some of those risks. It's inherent in the
process of research and technology to do so.

The Chair: Thank you.

We will now proceed with MP Blanchette-Joncas for two and a
half minutes.

Please go ahead.
[Translation]

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Dr. Nemer, in a system that dis‐
tributes several billion dollars in scientific funding every year,

wouldn't it be normal for an independent mechanism to analyze the
data in order to improve governance and transparency, but also
public understanding?

Dr. Mona Nemer: Obviously, as in any business or activity, I
think it's important to know what's working, what's not working,
and how we can improve things.

Of course, first there is an analysis that is done by the operators
themselves. After that, there is an independent analysis that must
validate these figures, I think, and that must assess whether we are
really achieving the objectives we have set.

By the way, the objectives are not necessarily to create compa‐
nies. It's also about having a skilled workforce. It's about advancing
science, as in the case of quantum or artificial intelligence.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Thank you.

Still in your report entitled “Towards a National Scientific Gov‐
ernance Framework”, published in 2025, you recommend establish‐
ing a national data governance framework, but also a focal point to
coordinate the actors.

Could such a framework improve the transparency, analysis and
accountability in the research funding system, as well as across all
scientific policies in Canada?

Dr. Mona Nemer: This is certainly a model that could be ap‐
plied to research data itself, but not to research results data. In that
case, it would be necessary to find what the focal point is and
where the responsibility lies. Obviously, it's important that this be
an independent organization or sector, if only to ensure credibility
in the eyes of the public.

Maxime Blanchette-Joncas: Dr. Nemer, in closing, I want to
acknowledge all your courage. I know there's been a lot of talk late‐
ly about attacks on science in the United States, but also here in
Canada. We're seeing a government making cuts to science. This is
particularly the case with the Centre de référence en agriculture et
agroalimentaire du Québec, which is closing its doors after
60 years. The same is true for the Canadian Food Inspection Agen‐
cy's research centre in Longueuil.

You said here, during your last appearance before the committee
in November, that this situation amounts to a “nightmare”, that you
weren't consulted on projects of national interest, and that the scien‐
tific expertise of your office isn't being taken into consideration.

I wanted to acknowledge all your work, Dr. Nemer.

Dr. Mona Nemer: Thank you very much.

[English]

The Chair: Thank you.

We will now end this panel with three minutes for MP Kronis
and then three minutes with MP Noormohamed.

MP Kronis, please go ahead.

Tamara Kronis: Thank you very much, Madam Chair.
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Dr. Nemer, I want to clarify something a bit. The role of the chief
science adviser is to provide independent scientific advice to the
government. Is that correct?

Dr. Mona Nemer: That's correct.
Tamara Kronis: That advice is most useful when your office is

consulted before decisions are made. Is that correct?
Dr. Mona Nemer: Most of the time, it is, yes.
Tamara Kronis: Earlier, you indicated that you were not con‐

sulted on the elimination of certain government programs. Is that
correct?

Dr. Mona Nemer: That's correct.
Tamara Kronis: My colleague across the way asked you about a

time under a former prime minister, Prime Minister Harper, when
he indicated that government science officers often felt muzzled. Is
that correct?
● (1300)

Dr. Mona Nemer: That's what he asked me.
Tamara Kronis: I'd like to ask you this: If you're not consulted

about something, is it possible to feel muzzled?
Dr. Mona Nemer: I believe there is a difference between being

consulted and being muzzled. I have to say that my office provides
both proactive and reactive advice. In the case of proactive advice,
we provide advice, for example, on the quantum strategy. We pro‐
vide advice on nuclear fusion. I cannot provide advice on things
that will happen more tactically that I'm not aware of.

If I'm asked to provide advice on agricultural research in Canada
or a particular area, then of course I can do that.

Tamara Kronis: Did you have any indication or advance notice
that the government was considering cancelling these programs that
it didn't consult you on?

Dr. Mona Nemer: No, I had none.
Tamara Kronis: Thank you very much for that.

I want to go back. I represent a relatively rural part of Canada,
and in the first hour we got an indication of the relative inequity in
funding for urban versus regional centres.

Dr. Charbonneau, you talked a lot about your governance prac‐
tices. Does your office measure the disparity between urban and ru‐
ral funding in this country?

Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: Thank you for the question.

I would not consider that to be disproportionate. Let me maybe
get back to.... People talk about the U15 and all of that. We have all
of the data across the country, and we are providing research en‐
velopes, budget envelopes, to all the universities and colleges
across the country, even to very small universities across the coun‐
try.

For example, in this particular case, up to $4 million of a major
science initiative could be put forward. We have to remember that
the reason we call them the “U15” is that 14 of these U15 universi‐
ties host a faculty of medicine and, on average—

Tamara Kronis: What about universities that don't do that?
The Chair: Can you quickly wind up?

Tamara Kronis: Oh, I'm sorry. My time is up.
Dr. Sylvain Charbonneau: Maybe I can just finish.

Of those 15 universities, 14 of the 15 have a faculty of medicine
and, on average, each one of these faculties of medicine has up to
five, six, seven or eight—in the case of the University of Toronto,
more than a dozen—hospital and research institutes tied to it, which
brings the number of clinicians—researcher clinicians—up to the
thousands.

Proportionally speaking, when you look at it and slice the data,
you will see that the distribution looks pretty okay across the coun‐
try, but we can talk further.

The Chair: We will now end this panel with MP Noormohamed
for three minutes.

Taleeb Noormohamed: I'm so pleased that my colleague oppo‐
site mentioned whether you were consulted or not in advance.

Do you think the chief science adviser of the government was
consulted when the Harper government fired or reallocated 5,332
scientists in the late 2000s?

Dr. Mona Nemer: The role didn't exist then.
Taleeb Noormohamed: Oh, the role didn't exist. Can you tell

everybody at this committee why the role didn't exist?
Dr. Mona Nemer: There was a national science adviser—I'm

sorry, but I don't remember the years—who was appointed prior to
Prime Minister Harper's arrival. I think, after a couple of years, the
position was terminated and it wasn't replaced.

Taleeb Noormohamed: You are absolutely correct.

I think it's important for everyone at this committee to know, in‐
cluding Conservatives who may have forgotten, that it was in 2008
that the role of the national chief science adviser was eliminated by
the Conservative government as part of a pogrom of scientists in
the Government of Canada, where over 5,300 scientists and associ‐
ated workers in science and research in the Government of Canada
had their positions eliminated. They were muzzled. They were told
that they could not speak freely, and it had a chilling impact for a
number of years on scientists who worked in the Government of
Canada. I think—
● (1305)

Vincent Ho: I have a point of order.
The Chair: Hold on one second, MP Noormohamed.

Go ahead, please.
Vincent Ho: I raise a point of order on relevance.
The Chair: [Inaudible—Editor] entirely relevant.
Taleeb Noormohamed: I appreciate his question. It is relevant

when we start to talk about the attacks on science and the question‐
ing of science that we have seen from the Conservative Party over
the last number of years, the questions about the efficacy of vac‐
cines, the questions about the value of science and research when it
comes to the environment and when it comes to protecting our wa‐
terways.
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I really want to thank all of you for the work you do in ensuring
that Canadians have access to good-quality science and research
that is being supported by the Government of Canada, by this gov‐
ernment. You can rest assured that members on this side of the
House will continue to support the work you do, because it's criti‐
cally important to maintaining Canada's role as a leader.

Thank you.
The Chair: You have 37 seconds.
Taleeb Noormohamed: With my last 37 seconds, here's what I

might ask. If there was one thing, Mr. Davies, that you could tell
everyone in this room, what is the most important thing that people
in politics can do when it comes to supporting science and research
by the government and that is supported by the government?

Mitch Davies: I give no weight to my personal opinion on this,
but I think it's important that we're discussing the science system,

the research system, and how it's important to our country and our
future. I think continued inquiry into and interest in that and in-
depth understanding of that system are very vital to ensuring it's
there for years to come.

The Chair: Thank you.

With this, our panel comes to an end.

On behalf of all the members of this committee, I really want to
thank all the witnesses for appearing before the committee and pro‐
viding your input.

Is it the will of the committee to adjourn the meeting?

Some hon. members: Agreed.

The Chair: The meeting is adjourned.
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